THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

LARRY HAYES,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT 7
	The aggravating factor of "major economic offense" was not supported by substantial evidence and not based on acts by Hayes alone
	a. An aggravating factor justifying an exceptional sentence must be proved to the jury and authorized by statute7
	b. Accomplice liability cannot be the basis for an exceptional sentence unless explicitly statutorily authorized9
	c. The prosecution premised its request for an exceptional sentence on uncharged, unproven allegations and did not establish sufficient proof of the major economic crime aggravating factor for first degree theft13
	The criminal history listed on the judgment and sentence improperly includes charges that were dismissed17
F.	CONCLUSION20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
<u>State v. Handley</u> , 115 Wn.2d 275, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990)14					
<u>State v. Houf,</u> 120 Wn.2d 327, 841 P.2d 42 (1992)14					
<u>State v. Jacobs</u> , 154 Wn.2d 596, 115 P.3d 281 (2005)11					
<u>State v. McAlpin</u> , 108 Wn.2d 458, 740 P.2d 824 (1987)14					
<u>State v. Pillatos</u> , 159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007)8					
<u>State v. Roswell</u> , 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008)9					
<u>State v. Turner</u> , 169 Wn.2d 448, 238 P.3d 461 (2010)18, 19					
Washington Court of Appeals Decisions					
<u>State v. Bush</u> , 26 Wn.App. 486, 616 P.2d 666 (1980)17					
<u>State v. Hayes</u> , 164 Wn.App. 459, 262 P.3d 538 (2011)3, 5					
<u>State v. Morreira</u> , 107 Wn.App. 450, 27 P.3d 639 (2001)14					
<u>State v. Pineda-Pineda</u> , 154 Wn.App. 653, 226 P.3d 164 (2010) 10, 11					
<u>State v. Quiros</u> , 78 Wn.App. 134, 896 P.2d 91, <u>rev. denied</u> , 127 Wn.2d 1024 (1995)					
United States Supreme Court Decisions					
<u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u> , 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.435 (2000)					

740 (1985)					
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004)					
<u>Green v. United States</u> , 355 U.S. 184, 78 S.Ct. 221, 2 L.Ed.2d 199 (1957)					
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)					
United States Constitution					
Fourteenth Amendment					
Sixth Amendment					
Washington Constitution					
Article I, section 218					
Article I, section 22					
Statutes					
RCW 9.35.02017					
RCW 9.94A.530					
RCW 9.94A.53310					
RCW 9.94A.535					
RCW 9.94A.53714					

A. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>.

When Larry Hayes returned to court after several of his convictions were reversed on appeal, the State conceded it would simply dismiss the reversed charges rather than attempt to prosecute them. Yet it asked the judge to impose the same exceptional sentence it had originally imposed. Its argument for an exceptional sentence was based on allegations for which Hayes no longer stood convicted. Hayes's exceptional sentence is unauthorized and must be reversed.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. The court improperly imposed an exceptional sentence based on conduct for which Hayes was convicted as an accomplice.
- 2. The court impermissibly imposed an exceptional sentence based on unproven allegations.
- 3. The prosecution did not present sufficient evidence that the crime for which the court imposed an exceptional sentence satisfied the criteria for the aggravating factor of major economic offense.
- 4. The court included offenses in Hayes's judgment and sentence for which Hayes had not been convicted.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. An exceptional sentence may be imposed for an accomplice only if the governing statute authorizes accomplice liability. Hayes was convicted as an accomplice. Did the court lack authority to impose an exceptional sentence when there was no jury finding that he was culpable as a principle?
- 2. An exceptional sentence may not be imposed based on conduct that was not proved to the jury as part of the crime of conviction. The prosecution asked the court to impose an exceptional sentence based on allegations that it did not prove and expressly declined to charge after remand from the Court of Appeals. Did the court use uncharged accusations as the basis for imposing an exceptional sentence?
- 3. An exceptional sentence based on a major economic offense must involve conduct that substantially exceeds that contemplated by the standard range. Hayes received an exceptional sentence for count one, first degree identity theft. This offense requires a minimum theft of \$1500 and Hayes was accused of taking \$2000. Did Hayes's conduct sufficiently establish the extraordinary behavior required for an exceptional sentence

when his conduct involved a taking that was minimally beyond the bare elements of the crime?

4. The court lacks authority to enter convictions for offenses that were charged but not proved. The judgment and sentence lists several offenses as part of Hayes's criminal history that the prosecution dismissed after the Court of Appeals remanded the case for resentencing. Should this court strike the dismissed charges from the list of criminal history in the judgment and sentence?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Larry Hayes returned to trial court for resentencing after several of his convictions were reversed on appeal. CP 70; State v. Hayes, 164 Wn.App. 459, 483, 262 P.3d 538 (2011). The State declined to prosecute any of the reversed charges. 3/16/12RP 6-7. The prosecution asked the trial court to impose the same 180-month exceptional sentence that it had previously ordered. 3/16/12RP 8-10.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) from the resentencing hearing is cited by reference to the date of proceedings. The transcripts from Hayes's trial are referred to in the same manner as used in COA 66646-1-1: they refer to the volume designated on the cover page of the trial transcripts; transcripts that do not have a volume designated on the cover page will be referred to by the date of the proceeding.

The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 96 months for count one based on the aggravating factor of a major economic offense. 3/15/12RP 16. In count one, Hayes was convicted of first degree identity theft for the unauthorized use of Scott Mutter's credit card account. CP 13. A representative of Mutter's bank testified that there were four unauthorized charges on Mutter's account, totaling \$2047. 10RP 9. The court imposed standard range terms for the remaining offenses. 3/16/12RP 16.

Hayes was originally charged with leading organized crime based on a claim by Benny Epstein that Hayes led others in stealing property or creating false identities. CP 21-22. But at Hayes's trial, multiple witnesses testified that Epstein, not Hayes, was the person who was responsible for the criminal conduct for which Epstein accused Hayes. See 164 Wn.App. at 465-66. The prosecution altered its theory to accuse Hayes of being an accomplice to Epstein. 12RP 10; 6/23/09a.m.RP 37-39, 52-53; 6/23/09p.m.RP 54-55. The Court of Appeals reversed Hayes's conviction for leading organized crime on the basis that leading organized crime punishes the leader and not the accomplice, and

Hayes has filed a motion to transfer the transcripts from his prior appeal, COA 66646-1-I, to the instant appeal.

therefore cannot be based on accomplice liability. <u>Hayes</u>, 164 Wn.App. at 483.

The remaining convictions for which Hayes was being sentenced involved one credit card and four receipts found in a silver briefcase in Hayes's home. Each item contained a credit card account number and Hayes was charged with both identity theft and second degree possession of stolen property for the receipts and card. CP 14-20; 3RP 73. The briefcase was found in Hayes's home and contained over 800 credit card receipts from Great Clips, a hair salon. 3RP 72, 78. These receipts had been stolen from a storage unit. 3RP 90, 93.

Benny Epstein testified that the briefcase belonged to Hayes, but a number of Epstein's friends and acquaintances testified that Epstein always carried a briefcase with him and the silver briefcase looked like one Epstein had. 10RP 108, 125, 142; 11RP 38, 92, 121. Several witnesses also testified that when the police were preparing to search Hayes's home, Epstein created a "bomb" of fireworks and said he wanted to bomb Hayes's home so the police would not get "his briefcase." 10RP 125, 147; 11RP 93-94.

The Great Clips credit card receipts had been taken from a storage unit that was next door to a storage unit Epstein rented.

3RP 90; 10RP 97-100. While Epstein accused Hayes of burglarizing the neighboring storage unit, other people testified that Epstein bragged of stealing from other storage units. 10RP 50, 130; 11 RP 39, 98. Epstein was found in possession of several Great Clips credit card receipts when he was arrested in Idaho.

10RP 27. Epstein testified against Hayes under a grant of immunity after he pled guilty in federal court to identity theft and credit card fraud in an effort to reduce his pending federal sentence. 7RP 27; 8RP 8.²

The jury was instructed that Hayes could be convicted as an accomplice or principle. COA 66646-1-I, CP 11, 13. The verdict forms did not ask the jury to specify whether its verdict rested on accomplice liability. The jury was also asked whether the State had proven "the crime" was a major economic offense or series of offenses. CP 25.

Hayes had originally received an exceptional sentence for his conviction of leading organized crime. Hayes challenged he

² The substance of Epstein's federal charges was not discussed in court, but they seem to rest on allegations unrelated to Hayes. 8RP 75-76.

imposition of the exceptional sentence on appeal. The Court of Appeals did not address the issue because it reversed the conviction for which the exceptional sentence was imposed. 164 Wn.App. at 483. The Court of Appeals decision provided as follows:

Hayes argues that the aggravating factor of a major economic offense as defined in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d) cannot be the basis for an exceptional sentence unless there is a jury finding, absent here, that Hayes himself engaged in the actions that made his crime a major economic offense. Because we reverse Hayes' conviction for leading organized crime, the only crime for which he was given an exceptional sentence, this issue is moot and we decline to address it.

164 Wn.App. at 483. Pertinent facts are addressed in further detail in the relevant argument sections below.

E. ARGUMENT.

- 1. The aggravating factor of "major economic offense" was not supported by substantial evidence and not based on acts by Hayes alone
 - a. An aggravating factor justifying an exceptional sentence must be proved to the jury and authorized by statute.

A judge exceeds her constitutional authority if she imposes a sentence based on factual determinations that are made by the judge, not the jury, and are not proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 483, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.435 (2000); U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. Any fact increasing punishment beyond the standard sentencing range constitutes an element that must be proved to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 306-07, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004).

The court's sentencing authority is controlled by statute.

State v. Pillatos, 159 Wn.2d 459, 469, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007). The Legislature enacted an "exclusive list" of aggravating factors that may serve as the basis of an exceptional sentence above the standard range. RCW 9.94A.535(3) ("the following circumstances are an exclusive list of factors that can support a sentence above the standard range").

The prosecution sought an exceptional sentence based on the "major economic offense" aggravating factor. The jury was instructed:

To find that a crime is a major economic offense, at least one of the following factors must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) The crime involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim; or
- (2) The crime involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time.

COA 66646-1-I, CP 102. The court also told the jury that these factors were alternative means for which the jury did not need to be unanimous, as long as each juror found one alternative had been proved. <u>Id</u>.

The court impermissibly relied on this aggravating factor to impose an exceptional sentence on count one because Hayes's conviction rested on accomplice liability, and the aggravating factor must be based on a finding of personal culpability without regard to complicity as an accomplice. Furthermore, the evidence underlying count one cannot rise to the level of harm contemplated by the major economic offense aggravator.

b. Accomplice liability cannot be the basis for an exceptional sentence unless explicitly statutorily authorized Error! Bookmark not defined.

Although an aggravating factor permitting an enhanced penalty must be charged and proven beyond a reasonable doubt, "it is decidedly not an element needed to convict the defendant of the charged crime." State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 195, 196 P.3d 705 (2008); see Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303; U.S. Const. amends. 6, 14; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. Exceptional sentence criteria involve separate factors from the question of whether a

person may be convicted of the underlying crime. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d at 195.

The accomplice liability statute, RCW 9A.08.020, "cannot be the basis to impose a sentencing enhancement on an accomplice."
State v. Pineda-Pineda, 154 Wn.App. 653, 661, 226 P.3d 164 (2010). The accomplice liability statute, RCW 9A.08.020, "does not contain a triggering device for penalty enhancement." Id.
Accordingly, "the authority to impose a sentencing enhancement on the basis of accomplice liability must come from the specific enhancement statute." Id.

Pineda-Pineda explains that the legislature has made a policy choice to hold accomplices liable for another person's conduct in certain statutes, such as for possession of a firearm. The firearm enhancement statute provides that additional prison sentences "shall be added to the standard range sentence . . . if the offender or an accomplice was armed with a firearm." 154 Wn.App. at 663 n.4 (citing RCW 9.94A.533(3)). Similarly, the legislature specifically contemplates the possibility of accomplice liability in the context of the death penalty by expressly authorizing a conviction for aggravated first degree murder when a person

solicits another to commit the crime. <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Roberts</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 502).

The authority to impose a sentencing enhancement must be derived from specific authorizing language in the enhancement itself. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 501-02. Major participation by the accused is necessary for an aggravating factor to apply in the context of aggravated first degree murder. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d at 505. In the absence of special interrogatories, the court does not speculate as to the basis of the jury's verdict and presumes it may have rested on accomplice liability. Id. at 509.

The statute authorizing exceptional sentences does not explicitly trigger accomplice liability. RCW 9.94A.535(3). Because the statute is silent on the applicability of accomplice liability, it does not contain the necessary "triggering device" needed to incorporate accomplice liability. Pineda-Pineda, 154 Wn.App. at 661. Also, a criminal statute must be construed in the defendant's favor when ambiguous, and therefore accomplice liability is not an available predicate for the enhanced punishment. See State v.Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

The jury's verdict for each "current offense" finding against Hayes was premised on the availability of accomplice liability.

There was no jury finding that Hayes himself engaged in actions constituting a major economic crime. There was little evidence of Hayes' own involvement in any scheme that caused actual loss to a significant number of people.

The jury instructions and arguments presented by the prosecution asked the jury to convict Hayes as either a principle or accomplice. Instruction 11 defined accomplice liability and explained that Hayes would be "legally accountable for the conduct of another person" if he was an accomplice in the commission of "identity theft in the first degree" or other crimes charged. COA 66646-1-I CP 67 (Instruction 11). The "to convict" instruction for first degree identity theft told the jury that the prosecution was required to prove that "the defendant, or an accomplice" committed the acts necessary for first degree identity theft.

The prosecution argued that Hayes would be guilty of all charged offenses by aiding or abetting Epstein. 6/23/09p.m.RP 38. The prosecution said,

if Larry Hayes aided, abetted, or assisted Benjamin Epstein as an accomplice then you can return a verdict of guilty on any charge where you find that he has acted as an accomplice.

6/23/09p.m.RP 38.

The jury was not asked to find Hayes did more than aid or abet Epstein in his commission of any of the charged crimes. It made no finding about the degree of Hayes's personal culpability.

The court imposed an exceptional sentence on Hayes premised on the jury's finding that "the crime" constituted a "major economic crime." CP 25, 102. The jury's verdict for each crime rested on accomplice liability. The trial court did not note any factual basis for finding Hayes himself caused a major economic crime. 9/11/09RP 27.

Because aggravating factors authorizing exceptional sentences may not be premised on accomplice liability absent express statutory authorization, and no such authorization is present, Hayes should not have received an exceptional sentence based on a verdict that rests on accomplice liability.

c. The prosecution premised its request for an exceptional sentence on uncharged, unproven allegations and did not establish sufficient proof of the major economic crime aggravating factor for first degree theft

Under the real facts doctrine, the sentencing court can consider facts only if proven at trial, and not allegations of other crimes. State v. Quiros, 78 Wn.App. 134, 138-39, 896 P.2d 91, rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1024 (1995); RCW 9.94A.530(2). The purpose

of this doctrine is to protect the defendant from the trial court's "consideration of unreliable or inaccurate information." <u>State v. Morreira</u>, 107 Wn.App. 450, 456-57, 27 P.3d 639 (2001) (quoting <u>State v. Handley</u>, 115 Wn.2d 275, 282, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990)).

Under the real facts doctrine, a defendant's sentence may be based only on the current crime for which he is convicted, his criminal history, and the circumstances surrounding the crime.

State v. Houf, 120 Wn.2d 327, 333, 841 P.2d 42 (1992). A defendant may not be punished for uncharged crimes. State v. McAlpin, 108 Wn.2d 458, 466, 740 P.2d 824 (1987).

RCW 9.94A.530 codifies the real facts doctrine as follows:

- (2) In determining any sentence other than a sentence above the standard range, the trial court may rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing, or proven pursuant to RCW 9.94A.537....
- (3) In determining any sentence above the standard sentence range, the court shall follow the procedures set forth in RCW 9.94A.537. Facts that establish the elements of a more serious crime or additional crimes may not be used to go outside the standard sentence range except upon stipulation or when specifically provided for in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d), (e), (g), and (h).

The prosecution did not address the offenses for which Hayes was convicted when it argued to the court that it should impose an exceptional sentence. Instead, the prosecutor first argued that Hayes had been convicted of similar offenses in the past. 3/16/12RP 9. But that type of criminal history is accounted for in the standard range and may not serve as a basis for an exceptional sentence.

Second, the prosecutor argued that this case was not a "normal run-of-the-mill small operation." 3/16/12RP 9. He claimed Hayes had "800" full account numbers from credit card receipts [and] the jury heard evidence he was skilled at creating false identifications." Id. Finally, the prosecutor said, "I'm sure that you remember your reasons for giving an exceptional sentence in the first place. I'm going to ask that you impose the same sentence that you imposed back two and a half years ago and impose 180 months." 3/16/12RP 9-10.

The latter two reasons for an exceptional sentence are premised on uncharged crimes and allegations that the prosecution elected to dismiss rather that prove to a jury. The court previously imposed an exceptional sentence for Hayes's leading organized crime conviction, but that conviction was reversed and then dismissed on remand at the prosecution's request. For the prosecution to ask that the court impose an exceptional sentence

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