COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

LARRY HAYES, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Eric Schmidt (Pro Tem)

No. 07-1-05967-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By KATHLEEN PROCTOR Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

The court in *McKim* determined that under the accomplice liability statute an accomplice is "equally liable only for the substantive crime." *McKim*, 98 Wn.2d at 117. The court's analysis was based on the fact that under RCW 9A.08.020, there is no strict liability for the conduct of another in regard to a sentence enhancement provision whereas the prior accomplice liability statute had imposed liability for punishment as well. *McKim* stands for the proposition that in any given case, the question is whether the Legislature in enacting a penalty provision intended to impose strict liability for all participants of a crime.

In a later case, the Supreme Court of Washington held that the school zone enhancement for drug crimes applied to accomplices who were themselves within 1,000 feet of a school bus stop, regardless of

whether the participant knew he was in a school zone or not. *State v. Silva-Baltazar*, 125 Wn.2d 472, 482, 886 P.2d 138 (1994). *Silva-Baltazar*, involved two defendants who were convicted of possession of cocaine with intent to deliver. *Id.* at 474. The defendants attempted to deliver cocaine to the informant's house, who lived near a school bus stop. *Id.* at 475.

The Court distinguished *Silva-Baltazar* from its previous holding in *McKim*, 98 Wn.2d 111, 653 P.2d 1040 (1982), because unlike the deadly weapon enhancement statute, it found the school zone enhancement statute to be a strict liability statute. *Silva-Baltazar*, 125 Wn.2d at 482. Unlike the deadly weapon enhancement, the school zone enhancement provision does not require knowledge on the part of any of the participants. *Id.* at 482. The Court explicitly stated that it was irrelevant to whether a person was aware that he or she was carrying on the prohibited drug activity in a school zone. *Id.* at 482. Given the Legislature's intent to apply strict liability to the school zone enhancement, the Legislature may not have viewed it as necessary to include the term "accomplice" within the enhancement. *Id.* at 483.

As noted above, some sentencing enhancements specifically allow for punishment premised on accomplice liability. For instance, the firearm enhancement statute, RCW 9.94A.533, contains language demonstrating the legislature's intent to extend accomplice liability into the sentencing

realm. RCW 9.94A.533(3) reads, "The following additional times shall be added to the standard sentence range for felony crimes committed after July 23, 1995, if the offender or an accomplice was armed with a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010." (Emphasis added).

Division I of the Court of Appeals was required to examine the nature of the aggravating circumstances in RCW 10.95.020 and determine how a jury should assess liability for these circumstances when there was more than one participant in the underlying premeditated murder. See In re Personal Restraint of Howerton, 109 Wn. App. 494, 36 P.3d 565 (2001). The court in Howerton phrased the issue in this manner: "[D]id the Legislature intend to hold accomplices to murder strictly liable for the existence of aggravating factors or must the State prove the applicability of the factors to the individual defendant?" Howerton, 109 Wn. App. at 500. Division I answered its question by holding that an aggravating factor must be applicable to the individual defendant.

Defendant now raises a similar claim to that in *Howerton* with respect to the aggravating circumstances contained in RCW 9.94A.535. He argues that because he was convicted of the substantive crime of identity theft in the first degree upon instruction that allowed for consideration of accomplice liability, that he cannot be subject to an exceptional sentence unless the jury specifically found the aggravating

circumstance solely based on his actions. Or, to rephrase the question raised in *Howerton* to the case at hand: Did the Legislature intend to hold accomplices to (or participants in) identity theft in the first degree strictly liable for the existence of aggravating circumstances in RCW 9.94A.535 or must the State prove the applicability of the circumstances to the individual defendant?

The State contends that the correct answer to this question (or the one posed in *Howerton*) cannot be answered with a "yes" or a "no." The answer depends on which aggravating circumstance in RCW 9.94A.535 is being considered and the wording of that provision.

The aggravating circumstances set forth in 9.94A.535 cover a broad range of factors. Some of the circumstances focus on the defendant's actions such as when the defendant manifests deliberate cruelty to the victim, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a), or uses his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the offense, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). Other circumstances discuss what the defendant knew or should have known about his victim, such as being particularly vulnerable, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b), or pregnant, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(c). Other circumstances do not focus on the defendant's actions or what he knew, but on the impact of the crime, i.e. a rape of child resulting in the victim's pregnancy, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(i), or the victim's

injuries substantially exceeding the level of bodily harm necessary for the element of crime, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y). Some aggravating circumstances simply describe some aspect of the offense: it involved a high degree of sophistication or planning, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(m), or an invasion of the victim's privacy, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(p).

Close examination of the varied wording of these aggravating circumstances indicates that the Legislature intended some of them to apply to any participant in the substantive crime while others must be attributable to a particular defendant. Generally, the Legislature's use of the phrase "the defendant" in setting forth an aggravating circumstance signals its intent that the circumstance be assessed against the individualized defendant while use of the term "the current offense" signals its intent that the aggravating circumstance can be applied to any participant in the crime.

At issue in this case is a portion of the aggravating circumstance found in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). That provision reads in its entirety:

- (d) The current offense was a major economic offense or series of offenses, so identified by a consideration of any of the following factors:
 - (i) The current offense involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim;
 - (ii) The current offense involved attempted or actual monetary loss substantially greater than typical for the offense;

- (iii) The current offense involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time; or
- (iv) The defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense.

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). This provision focuses generally on the nature of the offense as only one of the factors brings into consideration a particular characteristic of the defendant. In the case at bar, defendant might have an argument were subsection (iv) at issue in his case, but it is not.

The jury was instructed that if it were to find defendant guilty of any offense that it must also determine whether the crime was a major economic offense. CP 146-195 (Instruction No. 44). The jury was further instructed that:

To find that a crime is a major economic offense, at least one of the following factors must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) The crime involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim; or
- (2) The crime involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time.

. . .

CP 146-195 (Instruction No. 45). This instruction as to an aggravating factor pertains to the nature of the offense committed. There is no reference at all to "the defendant" or even an indirect reference to the

entity committing the crime. These factors do not change from one participant to the next. Once the jury finds the crime meets the criteria set forth in the aggravating circumstance, it is applicable to all the participants in the crime and need not be assessed on an individualized basis. Such an aggravating circumstance should apply equally to all participants in a crime regardless of whether they are a minor or major participant.

The defendant cites to *State v. Pineda-Pineda*, 154 Wn. App. 653, 226 P.3d 164 (2010), arguing that Division I's Court of Appeals holding that Pineda-Pineda could not be held strictly liable under the school zone enhancement statute (RCW 69.50.435) applies to this case. *Pineda-Pineda* involves two drug sales. *Id.* at 658. During the first drug sale, Pineda-Pineda sold cocaine directly to an informant. *Id.* The second drug sale was arranged by Pineda-Pineda, but he was not with the two women who delivered the cocaine to the same informant near a school bus stop. *Id.* at 658. Pineda-Pineda challenged the school zone enhancement on appeal because there was no evidence to show that he determined the precise location of the delivery, or that he was physically present in the school zone when the delivery occurred. *Id.* at 660.

The court held that because the accomplice liability statute (RCW 9A.08.020) did not contain a triggering device for penalty enhancement, the authority to impose a sentencing enhancement on the basis of accomplice liability must come from the specific enhancement statue. *Id.*

at 661. Therefore, since there was no statutory authorization for imposition of a sentence enhancement on an accomplice, the defendant's own acts must form the basis for the enhancement. *Id.* at 664.

The State believes that Division I has misconstrued the Washington State Supreme Court's holding in Silva-Baltazar, McKim, and the specific language of the enhancement statutes when it decided Pineda-Pineda, and Howerton. Although in Silva-Baltazar, the Supreme Court stated that it reserved the issue of whether the school zone enhancement applied to accomplices who are not themselves within the drug free zone, the Court laid out its analysis for an accomplice who was present within the school zone. The Court explicitly stated that the school zone enhancement was a strict liability statute and that knowledge of distributing drugs in a school zone was not a requirement. Silva-Baltazar, 125 Wn.2d at 482. In addition, the Washington State Supreme Court pointed out that not all enhancements are meant to be interpreted the same, and distinguished its holding from McKim. Silva-Baltazar, 125 Wn.2d at 482-483. Division I made a sweepingly broad ruling by treating all enhancement statutes the same when it has not been the Legislature's intent, or the Washington State Supreme Court's interpretation of enhancement statutes. Division I based its decision purely on whether or not the word "accomplice" is included in an enhancement statute. Instead, Division I should have read the particular enhancement statute as a whole to determine the Legislature's intent of applying the sentencing

enhancement to a particular individual, or to committing a particular offense.

Defendant has failed to show that the Legislature did not intend for the jury's determination that identity theft in the first degree was a major economic offense to be applicable to all participants involved in the crime. This claim must be dismissed.

2. THE COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED AN EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE BASED ON THE JURY'S FINDINGS.

In *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004), the United States Supreme Court applied the rule from *Apprendi*, that, other than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 301 (citing *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)). The relevant "statutory maximum" is not the maximum sentence a judge may impose after finding additional facts, but the maximum he may impose without any additional findings. *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 303-04. When a judge imposes punishment that the jury's verdict alone does not allow, the jury has not found all the facts that the law makes essential to the punishment, and the judge exceeds his proper authority. *Blakely*, 542 U.S. at 304.

In the case now before the court, a jury was impaneled and instructed that the State had the burden of proving the aggravating circumstance(s) beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 146-195 (Instruction No.

44). The special verdict forms also indicated this burden:

We the jury, have found the defendant guilty of (crime) as defined in these instructions return a special verdict by answering as follows:

Was the crime a major economic offense or series of offenses?

CP 25-38. The jury answered each of these questions "yes." The jury has found beyond a reasonable doubt the facts which increase the punishment. The requirements of *Blakely/Apprendi* are satisfied and the court is authorized to increase the punishment imposed.

Moreover, the defendant is challenging some of the prosecutor's arguments during the re-sentencing hearing which were not objected to during the hearing. The court should dismiss the defendant's challenge because arguments not raised in the trial court are generally not considered on appeal. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); RAP 2.5(a).

Therefore, the court properly imposed an exceptional sentence based on the jury's findings that the defendant's crimes were committed with major economic offenses. 3/16/2012 RP 16.

3. AS THE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE DOES NOT CORRECTLY REFLECT THE DEFENDANT'S CRIMINAL HISTORY, AN ORDER CORRECTING JUDGMENT SHOULD BE FILED TO CORRECT THE SCRIVENER'S ERROR.

A written judgment is the final judgment in a case. See generally, State v. Davis, 125 Wn. App. 59, 64-65, 104 P.3d 11 (2004). Scrivener's errors are clerical errors that are the result of mistake or inadvertence, especially in writing or copying something on the record. They are not errors of judicial reasoning or determination. See BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009).

Clerical mistakes, in judgments, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the trial court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party after such notice, if any, as the court orders. Such mistakes may be corrected before review is accepted by an appellate court, and thereafter may be corrected pursuant to RAP 7.2(e).

CrR 7.8(a), see State v. Davis, 160 Wn. App. 471, 478, 248 P.3d 121 (2011).

A clerical error is one that, when amended, would correctly convey the intention of the court based on other evidence. *State v. Davis*, 160 Wn. App 471, 478, 248 P.3d 121 (2011). Courts will apply the same test used to determine a clerical error under CR 60(a), civil rule governing amendment of judgments when determining whether a clerical error exists

under CrR 7.8. *State v. Snapp*, 119 Wn. App. 614, 627, 82 P.3d 252 (2004).

In determining whether an error is clerical or judicial, the court will "look to whether the judgment, as amended, embodies the trial court's intention, as expressed in the record at trial." *Id., citing Presidential Estates Apartment Assocs. v. Barret*, 129 Wn.2d 320, 326, 917 P.2d 100 (1996). If the judgment does embody the court's intention, then the amended judgment should either correct the language to reflect the court's intention or add the language the court inadvertently omitted. *Snapp*, 119 Wn. App at 627, *citing Presidential*, 129 Wn.2d at 326. However, if the judgment does not, then the error is judicial and the court cannot amend the judgment and sentence. *Snapp*, 119 Wn. App at 627, *citing Presidential*, 129 Wn.2d at 326.

The defendant's criminal history listed in the judgment and sentence includes: unlawful possession of a stolen vehicle (9), leading organized crime (21), unlawful possession of a stolen vehicle (22), and possessing stolen property in the second degree (20). CP 101-102. These crimes were either reversed by the prior appeal or dismissed by the State. 3/16/2012 RP 7. These convictions should be deleted from the defendant's criminal history. It also appears that the conviction of identity

theft in the first degree was inadvertently omitted in defendant's criminal

history. CP 101-102.

Defendant had an offender score of 8 prior to being re-sentenced.

CP 101-102. Errors in the defendant's criminal history had no effect on

defendant's standard range because the highest offender score that the

defendant could have is a 9+. After the first appeal, defendant's offender

score is at least an 18. CP 101-102; 3/16/12 RP 8. These errors were

harmless and can be corrected by an order correcting judgment.

D. CONCLUSION.

The State respectfully requests the court to affirm defendant's

exceptional sentence and order a correcting judgment.